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WASHINGTON LEGAL FOUNDATION 
2009 Massachusetts Avenue, N.W. 

Washington, DC 20036 
202 588-0302 

 
 
 
 

February 6, 2007 
 

By Facsimile [301-796-9877] 
   and First-Class Mail 
 
Thomas W. Abrams, R.Ph., MBA 
Director 
Division of Drug Marketing, Advertising, and Communications 
10903 New Hampshire Ave. 
Bldg 22 Rm 1400 
Silver Spring, MD 20993-0002 
 
Re:  NDA # 20-637 
 Gliadel® Wafer (polifeprosan 20 with carmustine implant)  
 MACMIS ID # 14575 
 
Dear Mr. Abrams: 
 
On January 29, 2007, the Division of Drug Marketing, Advertising, and Communications 
(DDMAC) sent an untitled letter to MGI PHARMA, Inc. (MGI) alleging that a journal 
advertisement for Gliadel® Wafer (polifeprosan 20 with carmustine implant) “misbrands” the 
drug “in violation of” sections 502(n) and 201(n) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act 
(FDCA), 21 U.S.C. §§ 352(n) and 321(n).  For the reasons discussed below, WLF requests that 
DDMAC withdraw the untitled letter.  WLF requests, further, that DDMAC initiate a 
comprehensive review of its policies and procedures to assure that they comply with the First 
Amendment and do not exceed FDA’s authority under the FDCA.1 
 
Double Disclosure of Labeled Indication 
 
DDMAC alleges that the journal advertisement is misleading because it fails to present the 
“approved indication.”  This allegation cannot be sustained for the following reasons: 
 
First, contrary to DDMAC’s allegation, the advertisement actually describes the labeled 
indication not once, but twice: once on the first page of the advertisement in the “creative” part 

                                                 
1 In previous correspondence with you, we have listed all of the previous letters in which we explained our 
objections to DDMAC’s efforts to regulate the content of prescription drug communications.  For the sake of 
brevity, we are discontinuing that practice.  All of the concerns WLF is raising in this letter to you have been raised 
before. 
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(“treatment for high-grade malignant gliomas . . . after a tumor is removed”) and again in the 
brief summary (“Gliadel Wafer is indicated in newly-diagnosed high-grade malignant glioma 
patients as an adjunct to surgery and radiation.”).  As a matter of factual accuracy and common 
sense, therefore, DDMAC’s allegation fails. 
 
Second, the drug advertising regulation on which the untitled letter purports to rely, 21 C.F.R. § 
202.1(e)(3)(ii), actually undercuts DDMAC’s position.  The regulation requires that the 
“information relating to effectiveness . . . include specific indications for use of the drug for 
purposes claimed in the advertisement.”  As noted, the advertisement discloses the specific 
indication.  Without a statutory basis for its position, DDMAC’s allegation fails. 
 
In the past, WLF has objected to DDMAC’s policy of requiring the presentation of risk 
information twice in prescription drug promotional pieces.  We also provided a more extensive 
analysis of the issue in our August 7, 2006 report, which we have submitted to FDA in the form 
of a citizen petition.  This untitled letter demonstrates that DDMAC has extended its “double 
disclosure” requirement to include not only risk information, but also the labeled indication.   
We urge DDMAC to cease issuing warning and untitled letters requiring “double disclosure” 
until a sufficient basis for this approach has been articulated and interested persons have had a 
meaningful opportunity to comment.   
 
Unsubstantiated Allegations of Misleadingness 
 
DDMAC alleges that the advertisement is misleading because it states that Gliadel Wafer is 
implanted during surgery, while patients who receive radiation alone after surgery generally 
must wait at least fourteen days to initiate treatment.  DDMAC does not, and realistically could 
not, object to these two facts.  Instead, DDMAC concludes that stating these two facts together 
misleadingly suggests that the efficacy of Gliadel Wafer results from the ability to use the 
product at the time of surgery.   
 
DDMAC’s allegation is problematic.  The only apparent basis for this position is the judgment of 
the DDMAC personnel involved in preparing and reviewing the untitled letter.  DDMAC’s 
action is therefore an example of “we know it when we see it” regulation.  There is no officially 
articulated basis for DDMAC’s position upon which others could rely for guidance.  This is 
inconsistent with the Administrative Procedure Act (APA), which provides for judicial 
invalidation of agency action that is “in excess of statutory jurisdiction,” arbitrary, or capricious.  
5 U.S.C. § 706; see also Pearson v. Shalala, 164 F.3d 650, 660 (D.C. Cir.), reh’g denied, 172 
F.3d 72 (D.C. Cir. 1999) (“To refuse to define the criteria [FDA] . . . is applying is equivalent to 
simply saying no without explanation.”).   
 
The APA also provides for invalidation of agency action that is “contrary to constitutional right.”  
5 U.S.C. § 706.  It is beyond dispute that the advertisement qualifies as protected speech.  
Washington Legal Found. v. Friedman, 13 F. Supp. 2d 51, 62 (D.D.C. 1998) (citing Keyishian v. 
Board of Regents, 385 U.S. 589, 603 (1967), and Board of Trustees of Leland Stanford Junior 
University v. Sullivan, 773 F. Supp. 472, 474 (D.D.C. 1991)), appeal dism’d, 202 F.3d 331 (D.C. 
Cir. 2000).  At minimum, the advertisement is entitled to the intermediate level of protection 
accorded truthful, non-misleading commercial speech about a lawful activity.  Central Hudson 
Gas & Elec. Corp. v. Public Serv. Comm’n, 447 U.S. 557, 561-66 (1980).  Even under that 
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intermediate standard, DDMAC must justify any content restrictions it seeks to impose.  To 
fulfill its constitutional obligation, DDMAC must do more than simply declare that MGI’s 
statements about Gliadel Wafer are misleading.  Edenfield v. Fane, 507 U.S. 761, 770-71 (1993) 
(“It is well established that the party seeking to uphold a restriction on commercial speech carries 
the burden of justifying it.  This burden is not satisfied by mere speculation or conjecture; rather, 
a governmental body seeking to sustain a restriction on commercial speech must demonstrate 
that the harms it recites are real and that its restriction will in fact alleviate them to a material 
degree.”) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).  Because that is all that DDMAC has 
seen fit to do, the untitled letter cannot be reconciled with the First Amendment. 

Before DDMAC may take action with respect to an advertisement alleged to be misleading, the 
government must develop data demonstrating that the advertisement, in fact, is misleading.  In 
the untitled letter to MGI, DDMAC does not even allege that anyone was actually misled.  
Rather, DDMAC appears to be merely fearful that someone might be misled.  This approach is 
incompatible with the First Amendment.  See Virginia State Bd. v. Virginia Citizens Consumer 
Council, 425 U.S. 748, 769, 773 (1976). 
 
Impermissible Approach to the Dissemination of Scientific Information 
 
The untitled letter to MGI illustrates DDMAC’s continued policy and practice of banning the 
dissemination of truthful, non-misleading, adequately substantiated scientific information.  
DDMAC alleges that the claim “GLIADEL WAFER WORKS AT DAY 1” is misleading 
because the references for the claim discuss animal studies.  DDMAC also contends that it is 
“unaware of substantial evidence to support MGI’s extrapolation that . . . carmustine uptake 
results in immediate glioma cell death or when actual glioma cell death occurs following Gliadel 
Wafer implantation.” 
 
MGI does not make unsupported claims about the efficacy of Gliadel Wafer.  Rather, MGI 
supports its statement that Gliadel Wafer “works”—that is, releases carmustine immediately 
upon implantation—with data from animal studies published in peer-reviewed journals.  FDA 
has recognized that animal data can be clinically relevant.  For example, FDA’s prescription drug 
labeling regulations provide for the presentation of animal data in safety and efficacy-related 
sections.  21 C.F.R. § 201.57(b)(1), (f)(5), (f)(6)(i)(a)-(e).  Furthermore, applications for 
approval of new drugs require the inclusion of data from any animal tests conducted by the 
manufacturer.  See 21 C.F.R. § 314.50.  Yet nowhere does DDMAC explain its conclusion that 
the animal data cited in the advertisement cannot be used in support of the statement that Gliadel 
Wafer “works” on the day that it is implanted.  DDMAC’s attempt to preclude MGI from using 
animal data is inconsistent with FDA’s own regulatory requirements. 
 
Moreover, DDMAC seems to believe that animal data necessarily are not clinically relevant and 
therefore cannot be relied upon to substantiate promotional claims.  Such a blanket approach is 
incompatible with the First Amendment.  At minimum, DDMAC must permit the presentation of 
animal data with disclaimers as necessary to assure that the presentation is truthful and non-
misleading.  See Pearson, 164 F.3d at 659. 
 
Conclusion and Requested Action 
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For the reasons discussed above, we request that DDMAC immediately withdraw the untitled 
letter to MGI and cease issuing warning and untitled letters and advisory correspondence that 
contain allegations the same as or similar to those described above.  We request that you review, 
in a systematic fashion, all of your policies and procedures to ensure that they provide sufficient 
room for sponsors to disseminate, and health care practitioners and patents to receive, truthful 
and non-misleading information about prescription drugs.  We request, further, that you respond 
to the numerous legal and policy issues we have raised in our correspondence with you since 
2005. 
 
The deficiencies described in this letter do not necessarily constitute an exhaustive list.  It is 
DDMAC’s responsibility to ensure that its actions comply with the First Amendment, and do not 
exceed FDA’s statutory authority. 
 

Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Richard A. Samp 
Chief Counsel 

 
 


